

SCIENTIFIC OPINION

Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 and decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms (ID 904) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006¹

EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA)²

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Parma, Italy

SUMMARY

Following a request from the European Commission, the Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies was asked to provide a scientific opinion on a list of health claims pursuant to Article 13 of Regulation 1924/2006. This opinion addresses the scientific substantiation of health claims in relation to *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 and decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms. The scientific substantiation is based on the information provided by the Member States in the consolidated list of Article 13 health claims and references that EFSA has received from Member States or directly from stakeholders.

The food constituent that is the subject of the health claim is *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730. The Panel considers that *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 is sufficiently characterised.

The claimed effect 'intestinal flora' is not sufficiently defined but in the context of the proposed wording, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect refers to aspects of: "probiotic, beneficially affect the intestinal flora, support a healthy intestinal flora, and balance intestinal flora". The Panel considers that decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms might be beneficial to human health.

In weighing the evidence, the Panel took into account that the results of two human studies which related to *Helicobacter pylori* eradication were only available as poster abstracts, that the evidence from the animal and *in vitro* studies does not predict the effect of *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 consumption on the claimed effect in humans, and that the remaining references dealt with outcomes unrelated to the claimed effect.

On the basis of the data available, the Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 and decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms.

¹ On request from the European Commission, Question No EFSA-Q-2008-1691, adopted on 02 July 2009.

² Panel members: Jean-Louis Bresson, Albert Flynn, Marina Heinonen, Karin Hulshof, Hannu Korhonen, Pagona Lagiou, Martinus Løvik, Rosangela Marchelli, Ambroise Martin, Bevan Moseley, Hildegard Przyrembel, Seppo Salminen, Sean (J.J.) Strain, Stephan Strobel, Inge Tetens, Henk van den Berg, Hendrik van Loveren and Hans Verhagen. Correspondence: nda@efsa.europa.eu

For citation purposes: EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 and decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms (ID 904) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 on request from the European Commission. EFSA Journal 2009; 7(9):1243. [13 pp.]. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1243. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu



KEY WORDS

Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730, intestinal flora, potentially pathogenic microorganisms, health claims



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	1			
Fable of contents				
Background as provided by the European Commission				
Terms of Reference as provided by the European Commission				
EFSA Disclaimer				
Acknowledgements				
Information as provided in the consolidated list				
Assessment				
1. Characterisation of the food/constituent	5			
2. Relevance of the claimed effect to human health	6			
3. Scientific substantiation of the claimed effect	6			
Conclusions				
Documentation provided to EFSA				
References				
Appendices				



BACKGROUND AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

See Appendix A

TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

See Appendix A

EFSA DISCLAIMER

See Appendix B

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The European Food Safety Authority wishes to thank for the preparation of this opinion:

The members of the Working Group on Claims: Jean-Louis Bresson, Albert Flynn, Marina Heinonen, Hannu Korhonen, Martinus Løvik, Ambroise Martin, Hildegard Przyrembel, Seppo Salminen, Sean (J.J.) Strain, Inge Tetens, Henk van den Berg, Hendrik van Loveren and Hans Verhagen.

The members of the Claims/Sub-Working Group Gut/Immune: Maria Carmen Collado, Miguel Gueimonde, Daisy Jonkers, Martinus Løvik, Bevan Moseley, Maria Saarela, Seppo Salminen, Stephan Strobel and Hendrik van Loveren.



INFORMATION AS PROVIDED IN THE CONSOLIDATED LIST

The consolidated list of health claims pursuant to Article 13 of Regulation 1924/2006³ submitted by Member States contains main entry claims with corresponding conditions of use and literature from similar health claims. The information provided in the consolidated list for the health claims subject to this opinion is given in Table 1.

Table 1. Main entry health claims related to *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730, including conditions of use from similar claims, as proposed in the Consolidated List.

ID	Food or Food component	Health Relationship	Proposed wording	
904	Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730	Intestinal flora	probiotic	
			beneficially affects the intestinal flora	
			supports a healthy intestinal flora	
			balances the intestinal flora	
	Conditions of use			
	- Food supplement with 100 million Lactobacillus reuteri (ATCC 55730) lactic acid bacteri the daily dose.			
	- at least 1x10[8] cfu/day daily consumption			
	- Yoghurts, butter milks and juices with a Lactobacillus reuteri lactic acid bacteria content of at least 5*10e5cells/ml= log cells/ml 5.7, min. 1*10e8cells/200g or 2 dl, at least 1*10e8cells/day. According to the respondent, the amount of lactic acid bacteria is a guideline. Furthermore, there is no danger of an "overdose" of L.reuteri, so it is possible to consume the recommended amount of the ingredient that the claim is based upon. Heat treatment may destroy living lactic acid bacteria, but the correct usage is explained in the package.			
	- Tägliche Menge 4x10E8 KbE/Tag			

ASSESSMENT

1. Characterisation of the food/constituent

The food constituent that is the subject of the health claim is *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 (hereafter *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730). The strain *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 is also known as *Lactobacillus reuteri* SD2112 (Connolly, 2004). The 16S rRNA sequence of the strain is deposited at Genbank (Accession n° EU394679) and the strain has been characterised by both phenotypic and genotypic methods (Rosander et al., 2008). The sequencing of the genome of the strain is reported (Bath et al., 2005).

The Panel notes that a culture collection number from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) is provided.

³ Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 December 2006 on nutrition and health claims made on foods. OJ L 404, 30.12.2006, p. 9–25.



The Panel considers that the food constituent, *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730, which is the subject of the health claim, is sufficiently characterised.

2. Relevance of the claimed effect to human health

The claimed effect is 'intestinal flora'. The Panel assumes that the target population is the general population.

"Intestinal flora" is not sufficiently defined. In the context of the proposed wording, the Panel assumes that the claimed effect refers to aspects of: "probiotic, beneficially affect the intestinal flora, support a healthy intestinal flora, and balance intestinal flora".

The numbers/proportions of bacterial groups that would constitute a "beneficial/healthy/balanced" intestinal flora have not been established. Increasing the number of any groups of bacteria is not in itself considered as beneficial. The Panel considers that no evidence has been provided that aspects of the claimed effect, "probiotic, beneficially affect the intestinal flora, support a healthy intestinal flora, and balance intestinal flora", are beneficial to human health.

The Panel considers that decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms might be beneficial to human health.

3. Scientific substantiation of the claimed effect

Thirty references were cited to substantiate the claimed effect. The references included human intervention studies, *in vitro* and animal studies, and reviews.

Three human studies demonstrated the presence of *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 in faecal samples and gastric, duodenal and ileal mucosa after oral ingestion, and supporting survival and colonisation in the gastrointestinal tract (Valeur et al., 2004; Wolf et al., 1995; Wolf et al., 1998). Two studies investigated the safety aspects of the strain in both healthy males and HIV-infected subjects (Wolf et al., 1995; Wolf et al., 1998). The Panel notes that these references dealt with outcomes unrelated to the claimed effect.

In other studies the effect of the strain on clinical symptoms in different clinical conditions (acute diarrhoea, irritable bowel syndrome, infant colic, constipation, reduction of gingivitis and lowering infections rate) was evaluated (Tubelius et al., 2005; Niv et al., 2005; Ouweland etal., 2002; Ruiz-Palacios et al., 1996; Savino et al., 2005 and al., 2007; Shornikova et al., 1997a and 1997b; Weizman et al., 2003 and 2006; Guerrero et al., 1996; Krasse et al., 2006). The Panel notes that these studies do not address the claimed effect. Studies demonstrating reduced concentrations of salivary streptococci (Caglar et al., 2006; Nikawa et al., 2004) do not evaluate the effect of the bacterial strain on intestinal pathogens. The studies by Lionetti et al. (2005 and 2006) focused on reduction of side-effects of *H. pylori* treatment and reported on outcomes, which are unrelated to the claimed effect. The trial of Jakobsen et al. (2005, abstract of a poster) related to the effect of oral supplementation of *Lactobacillus reuteri* on the immunological composition of breast milk, which is also unrelated to the claimed effect.

In one study, dyspeptic *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) positive patients were treated with omeprazole, *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 (8×10^5 b.i.d.) or placebo (Saggioro, 2005, abstract of a poster). In another study, 40 asymptomatic healthy volunteers with a positive urea breath test for *H. pylori* were divided over 4 groups (Imase et al., 2005, abstract of a poster). Two of the groups received tablets containing *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 (dose not known) for 4 weeks followed by placebo for 4 weeks or vice versa. The Panel notes that only the abstracts (of posters) were available and the full text of the publications were not retrievable. The abstracts did not provide sufficient information to allow a scientific evaluation.

In several *in vitro* and animal models antibacterial effects, immunomodulatory properties and the adhesion characteristics of *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 were reviewed together with infection rates, morbidity and mortality caused by bacterial pathogens (Axelsson et al., 1989; Casas and Dobrogosz, 2000; Dobrogosz, 2005). The Panel considers that the evidence provided in the animal and *in vitro* studies does not predict the effect of *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 consumption on the claimed effect in humans.

In weighing the evidence, the Panel took into account that the results of two human studies which related to *Helicobacter pylori* eradication were only available as poster abstracts, that the evidence in the animal and *in vitro* studies does not predict the effect of *L. reuteri* ATCC 55730 consumption on the claimed effect in humans, and that the remaining references dealt with outcomes unrelated to the claimed effect.

The Panel concludes that a cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 and decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms.

CONCLUSIONS

On the basis of the data available, the Panel concludes that:

- The food constituent, *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730, which is the subject of the health claim is sufficiently characterised.
- The claimed effect is "intestinal flora". The target population is assumed to be the general population. Decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms might be beneficial to human health.
- A cause and effect relationship has not been established between the consumption of *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730 and decreasing potentially pathogenic intestinal microorganisms.

DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED TO EFSA

Health claims pursuant to Article 13 of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 (No: EFSA-Q-2008-1691). The scientific substantiation is based on the information provided by the Member States in the consolidated list of Article 13 health claims and references that EFSA has received from Member States or directly from stakeholders.

The full list of supporting references as provided to EFSA is available on: <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/panels/nda/claims/article13.htm</u>.

References

- Axelsson L, Chung T, Dobrogosz W, Lindgren S, 1989. Production of a broad spectrum antimicrobial substance by Lactobacillus reuteri. Microbial Ecology Health Disease 2, 131-136.
- Båth K, Roos S, Wall T, Jonsson H, 2005. The cell surface of Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 highlighted by identification of 126 extracellular proteins from the genome sequence. FEMS Microbiol Lett., 253, 75-82.
- Caglar E, Cildir SK, Ergeneli S, Sandalli N, Twetman S, 2006. Salivary mutans streptococci and lactobacilli levels after ingestion of the probiotic bacterium Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 by straws or tablets. Acta Odontol Scand, 64, 314-318.



- Casas IA, Dobrogosz WJ, 2006. Validation of the probiotic concept: Lactobacillus reuteri confers broadspectrum protection against disease in humans and animals. Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease, 12, 247-285.
- Connolly E, 2004. Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 A clinically proven probiotic. Nutrafoods 3: 15-22.
- Dobrogosz WJ, 2005. Enhancement of human health with Lactobacillus reuteri. A probiotic, immunobiotic and immunoprobiotic. Nutrafoods, 4, 15-28.
- Guerrero M, Dohnalek M, Newton P, Kuznetsova O, Ruiz-Palacios G, Murphy T, Calva J, Hilty M, T. TC, 1996. Effect of probiotic-containing beverages on incidence of diarrhoea. 1st World Congress of Pediatric Infectious Diseases, abstract no. 610, 45-42.
- Imase K, Tanaka A, Tokunaga K, Sugano H, Takahashi S, 2005. Lactobacillus reuteri tablets can suppress Helicobacter pylori infection: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled cross-over clinical study. Am J Gastroenterol, 100(S9): abstract No. 98.
- Jakobsson T, Abrahamsson T, Bjorksen B, Frederikson M, Bottcher M, 2005. The effect of oral supplementation of Lactobacillus reuteri on the immunological composition of breat milk, abstract OP5-05. J Ped Gastroenterol Nutr 40(5), 624.
- Krasse P, Carlsson B, Dahl C, Paulsson A, Nilsson A, Sinkiewicz G, 2006. Decreased gum bleeding and reduced gingivitis by the probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri. Swed Dent J, 30, 55-60.
- Lionetti E, Miniello VL, Castellaneta SP, Magista AM, De Canio A, Maurogiovanni G, Ierasdis E, Cavallo L, Francavilla R, 2005. The effect of oral administration of Lactobacillus reuteri on antibiotic-associated gastrointestinal side-effects during Helicobacter pylori eradication therapy. Proceedings of the 3rd Conference on Probiotics, Prebiotics & New Foods, 4-6 Sep. 2005, Rome, Italy and of the 12th National Congress of Italian Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, 22-24 Sep. 2005, Milan, Italy.
- Lionetti E, Miniello V, Castellaneta S, Magistà A, Canio AD, Giovanni M, Ierardi E, Cavallo L, Francavilla R, 2006. Lactobacillus reuteri therapy to reduce side-effects during anti-Helicobacter pylori treatment in children: a randomized placebo controlled trial. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics 24, 1461-1468.
- Nikawa H, Makihira S, Fukushima H, Nishimura H, Ozaki Y, Ishida K, Darmawan S, Hamada T, Hara K, Matsumoto A, Takemoto T, Aimi R, 2004. Lactobacillus reuteri in bovine milk fermented decreases the oral carriage of mutans streptococci. Int J Food Microbiol, 95, 219-223.
- Niv E, Naftali T, Hallak R, Vaisman N, 2005. The efficacy of Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 in the treatment of patients with irritable bowel syndrome--a double blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study. Clin.Nutr, 24, 925-931.
- Ouwehand AC, Lagström H, Suomalainen T, Salminen S, 2002. Effect of probiotics on constipation, fecal azoreductase activity and fecal mucin content in the elderly. Ann Nutr Metabol, 46, 159-162.
- Rosander A, Conolly E, Roos S, 2008. Removal of antibiotic resistance gene-carrying plasmids from Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 and characterization of the resulting daughter strain, L. reuteri DSM 17938. Appl Environ Microbiol., 74, 6032-6040.
- Ruiz-Palacios G, Guerrero M, Hilty M, 1996. Feeding of a probiotic for the prevention of communityacquired diarrhea in young Mexican children. Abstract 1089. Pediatr Res 39, (part2:184A).
- Saggioro A, Caroli M, Pasini M, Bortoluzzi F, Girardi L, Pilone G, 2005. Helicobacter pylori eradication with Lactobacillus reuteri. A double blind placebo-controlled study. Dig Liver Dis, 37(Suppl 1): S88, abstr. PO1.49.

- Savino F, Palumeri E, Pelle E, Castagno E, Oggero R, Miniero R, 2005. Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 versus simeticone in the treatment of infantile colic: a prospective randomised study. Abstract 328. Pediatr Res, 58, 411.
- Savino F, Pelle E, Palumeri E, Oggero R, Miniero R, 2007. Lactobacillus reuteri (American Type Culture Collection Strain 55730) Versus Simethicone in the Treatment of Infantile Colic: A Prospective Randomized Study. Pediatrics, 119, 124-130.
- Shornikova AV, Casas IA, Isolauri E, Mykkanen H, Vesikari T, 1997a. Lactobacillus reuteri as a therapeutic agent in acute diarrhea in young children. J Pediatr.Gastroenterol.Nutr., 24, 399-404.
- Shornikova AV, Casas IA, Mykkänen N, Salo E, Vesikari T, 1997b. Bacteriotherapy with Lactobacillus reuteri in rotavirus gastroenteritis. Pediatr Infect Dis J, 16,1103-1107.
- Tubelius P, Stan V, Zachrisson A, 2005. Increasing work-place healthiness with the probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri: A randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled study. Environ. Health, 4, 25.
- Valeur N, Engel P, Carbajal N, Connolly E, Ladefoged K, 2004. Colonization and immunomodulation by Lactobacillus reuteri ATCC 55730 in the human gastrointestinal tract. Appl Environ Microbiol, 70, 1176-1181.
- Weizman Z, Asli G, Alsheikh A, 2003. Infant formula supplemented with probiotics reduces gastrointestinal infections rate in day care infants. Clin Nutr 22, S69.
- Weizman Z, Asli G, Alsheikh A, 2005. Effect of a probiotic infant formula on infections in child care centers: comparison of two probiotic agents. Pediatrics, 115, 5-9.
- Wolf BW, Galeb KA, Ataya DG, Casas IA, 1995. Safety and tolerance of lactobacillus reuteri in healthy adult subjects. Microbial Ecol Health Dis. 8, 41-50.
- Wolf BW, Wheeler KB, Ataya DG, Garleb KA, 1998. Safety and tolerance of Lactobacillus reuteri supplementation to a population infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. Food Chem.Toxicol., 36, 1085-1094.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

BACKGROUND AND TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

The Regulation 1924/2006 on nutrition and health claims made on foods⁴ (hereinafter "the Regulation") entered into force on 19th January 2007.

Article 13 of the Regulation foresees that the Commission shall adopt a Community list of permitted health claims other than those referring to the reduction of disease risk and to children's development and health. This Community list shall be adopted through the Regulatory Committee procedure and following consultation of the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA).

Health claims are defined as "any claim that states, suggests or implies that a relationship exists between a food category, a food or one of its constituents and health".

In accordance with Article 13 (1) health claims other than those referring to the reduction of disease risk and to children's development and health are health claims describing or referring to:

- a) the role of a nutrient or other substance in growth, development and the functions of the body; or
- b) psychological and behavioural functions; or
- c) without prejudice to Directive 96/8/EC, slimming or weight-control or a reduction in the sense of hunger or an increase in the sense of satiety or to the reduction of the available energy from the diet.

To be included in the Community list of permitted health claims, the claims shall be:

- (i) based on generally accepted scientific evidence; and
- (ii) well understood by the average consumer.

Member States provided the Commission with lists of claims as referred to in Article 13(1) by 31 January 2008 accompanied by the conditions applying to them and by references to the relevant scientific justification. These lists have been consolidated into the list which forms the basis for the EFSA consultation in accordance with Article 13 (3).

ISSUES THAT NEED TO BE CONSIDERED

IMPORTANCE AND PERTINENCE OF THE FOOD⁵

Foods are commonly involved in many different functions⁶ of the body, and for one single food many health claims may therefore be scientifically true. Therefore, the relative importance of food e.g. nutrients in relation to other nutrients for the expressed beneficial effect should be considered: for functions affected by a large number of dietary factors it should be considered whether a reference to a single food is scientifically pertinent.

It should also be considered if the information on the characteristics of the food contains aspects pertinent to the beneficial effect.

SUBSTANTIATION OF CLAIMS BY GENERALLY ACCEPTABLE SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE

Scientific substantiation is the main aspect to be taken into account to authorise health claims. Claims should be scientifically substantiated by taking into account the totality of the available scientific data, and by weighing the evidence, and shall demonstrate the extent to which:

⁴ OJ L12, 18/01/2007

⁵ The term 'food' when used in this Terms of Reference refers to a food constituent, the food or the food category.

⁶ The term 'function' when used in this Terms of Reference refers to health claims in Article 13(1)(a), (b) and (c).



- (a) the claimed effect of the food is beneficial for human health,
- (b) a cause and effect relationship is established between consumption of the food and the claimed effect in humans (such as: the strength, consistency, specificity, dose-response, and biological plausibility of the relationship),
- (c) the quantity of the food and pattern of consumption required to obtain the claimed effect could reasonably be achieved as part of a balanced diet,
- (d) the specific study group(s) in which the evidence was obtained is representative of the target population for which the claim is intended.

EFSA has mentioned in its scientific and technical guidance for the preparation and presentation of the application for authorisation of health claims consistent criteria for the potential sources of scientific data. Such sources may not be available for all health claims. Nevertheless it will be relevant and important that EFSA comments on the availability and quality of such data in order to allow the regulator to judge and make a risk management decision about the acceptability of health claims included in the submitted list.

The scientific evidence about the role of a food on a nutritional or physiological function is not enough to justify the claim. The beneficial effect of the dietary intake has also to be demonstrated. Moreover, the beneficial effect should be significant i.e. satisfactorily demonstrate to beneficially affect identified functions in the body in a way which is relevant to health. Although an appreciation of the beneficial effect in relation to the nutritional status of the European population may be of interest, the presence or absence of the actual need for a nutrient or other substance with nutritional or physiological effect for that population should not, however, condition such considerations.

Different types of effects can be claimed. Claims referring to the maintenance of a function may be distinct from claims referring to the improvement of a function. EFSA may wish to comment whether such different claims comply with the criteria laid down in the Regulation.

WORDING OF HEALTH CLAIMS

Scientific substantiation of health claims is the main aspect on which EFSA's opinion is requested. However, the wording of health claims should also be commented by EFSA in its opinion.

There is potentially a plethora of expressions that may be used to convey the relationship between the food and the function. This may be due to commercial practices, consumer perception and linguistic or cultural differences across the EU. Nevertheless, the wording used to make health claims should be truthful, clear, reliable and useful to the consumer in choosing a healthy diet.

In addition to fulfilling the general principles and conditions of the Regulation laid down in Article 3 and 5, Article 13(1)(a) stipulates that health claims shall describe or refer to "the role of a nutrient or other substance in growth, development and the functions of the body". Therefore, the requirement to describe or refer to the 'role' of a nutrient or substance in growth, development and the functions of the body should be carefully considered.

The specificity of the wording is very important. Health claims such as "Substance X supports the function of the joints" may not sufficiently do so, whereas a claim such as "Substance X helps maintain the flexibility of the joints" would. In the first example of a claim it is unclear which of the various functions of the joints is described or referred to contrary to the latter example which specifies this by using the word "flexibility".

The clarity of the wording is very important. The guiding principle should be that the description or reference to the role of the nutrient or other substance shall be clear and unambiguous and therefore be specified to the extent possible i.e. descriptive words/ terms which can have multiple meanings should be avoided. To this end, wordings like "strengthens your natural defences" or "contain antioxidants" should be considered as well as "may" or "might" as opposed to words like "contributes", "aids" or "helps".



In addition, for functions affected by a large number of dietary factors it should be considered whether wordings such as "indispensable", "necessary", "essential" and "important" reflects the strength of the scientific evidence.

Similar alternative wordings as mentioned above are used for claims relating to different relationships between the various foods and health. It is not the intention of the regulator to adopt a detailed and rigid list of claims where all possible wordings for the different claims are approved. Therefore, it is not required that EFSA comments on each individual wording for each claim unless the wording is strictly pertinent to a specific claim. It would be appreciated though that EFSA may consider and comment generally on such elements relating to wording to ensure the compliance with the criteria laid down in the Regulation.

In doing so the explanation provided for in recital 16 of the Regulation on the notion of the average consumer should be recalled. In addition, such assessment should take into account the particular perspective and/or knowledge in the target group of the claim, if such is indicated or implied.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

HEALTH CLAIMS OTHER THAN THOSE REFERRING TO THE REDUCTION OF DISEASE RISK AND TO CHILDREN'S DEVELOPMENT AND HEALTH

EFSA should in particular consider, and provide advice on the following aspects:

- Whether adequate information is provided on the characteristics of the food pertinent to the beneficial effect.
- ➤ Whether the beneficial effect of the food on the function is substantiated by generally accepted scientific evidence by taking into account the totality of the available scientific data, and by weighing the evidence. In this context EFSA is invited to comment on the nature and quality of the totality of the evidence provided according to consistent criteria.
- The specific importance of the food for the claimed effect. For functions affected by a large number of dietary factors whether a reference to a single food is scientifically pertinent.

In addition, EFSA should consider the claimed effect on the function, and provide advice on the extent to which:

- > the claimed effect of the food in the identified function is beneficial.
- a cause and effect relationship has been established between consumption of the food and the claimed effect in humans and whether the magnitude of the effect is related to the quantity consumed.
- where appropriate, the effect on the function is significant in relation to the quantity of the food proposed to be consumed and if this quantity could reasonably be consumed as part of a balanced diet.
- the specific study group(s) in which the evidence was obtained is representative of the target population for which the claim is intended.
- ➤ the wordings used to express the claimed effect reflect the scientific evidence and complies with the criteria laid down in the Regulation.

When considering these elements EFSA should also provide advice, when appropriate:

on the appropriate application of Article 10 (2) (c) and (d) in the Regulation, which provides for additional labelling requirements addressed to persons who should avoid using the food; and/or warnings for products that are likely to present a health risk if consumed to excess.



APPENDIX B

EFSA DISCLAIMER

The present opinion does not constitute, and cannot be construed as, an authorisation to the marketing of the food/food constituent, a positive assessment of its safety, nor a decision on whether the food/food constituent is, or is not, classified as foodstuffs. It should be noted that such an assessment is not foreseen in the framework of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006.

It should also be highlighted that the scope, the proposed wordings of the claims and the conditions of use as proposed in the Consolidated List may be subject to changes, pending the outcome of the authorisation procedure foreseen in Article 13(3) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006.